CONSTITUTION OF THE GRADUATE STUDENT ORGANIZATION OF SYRACUSE UNIVERSITY

Effective Date: March 6, 2024

PREAMBLE

We, the Graduate Students of Syracuse University, in order to foster greater representation of our interests and concerns, hereby establish the Graduate Student Organization of Syracuse University and its Senate. The Graduate Student Organization shall serve as the student government of graduates at Syracuse University. Its purpose is to represent and promote the interests of graduate students and the University community. The Graduate Student Organization Senate shall function as the organization's representative deliberative assembly to establish policies and initiatives that are in the best interests of all graduate students at Syracuse University consistent with the principles outlined in this Constitution. It will be an independent organization free from internal or external coercion.

ARTICLE I: GENERAL MEMBERSHIP

- Section 1: All matriculated, main campus, enrolled graduate students at Syracuse University registered outside the College of Law, whose graduate student activity fees have been paid, are GSO members.
- Section 2: All matriculated, main campus, enrolled graduate students at the State University of New York College of Environmental Science and Forestry (SUNY-ESF), whose Syracuse University graduate student activity fees have been paid, are GSO members.

ARTICLE II: THE SENATE

- Section 1: All legislative powers of the GSO are vested in the Senate.
- Section 2: The following shall be members of the Senate with the power to vote: GSO Officers, Academic Plan Senators, University Senators, At-large Senators, and SUNY-ESF Senators. The GSO Parliamentarian shall be considered a member of the Senate without the power to vote, per Article IV Section 5.
 - (a) No member of the Senate shall have more than one vote.
- Section 3: Any person who is a GSO member per Article 1 shall be eligible for the office of Senator.
 - (a) Only SUNY-ESF students shall be eligible for the office of SUNY-ESF Senator.

- (b) A Senator's term in office shall last for the Session, defined per Article 2 Section 12, for which they are elected.
- Section 4: Each academic plan at Syracuse University shall be allotted one Senate seat. These Senators are known as "Academic Plan Senators."
 - (a) The list of academic plans shall be determined by the enrollment data provided annually by the University.
 - (b) Each academic plan may determine the nature, time, and place of their Senator election, so long as all Senator elections are held in an open and fair manner and an election is held at least once per academic year.
 - (c) Academic plans may combine allotted seats into one office should they choose and may separate such combined seats should they choose.
 - (d) Academic plans must elect and maintain an Academic Plan Senator to be eligible to request funds from the GSO budget through their associated Recognized Graduate Student Organization.
 - (e) Each Academic Plan Senator may appoint a single GSO member of their academic plan to serve as their Alternate. The Alternate must be verified by the Vice President of Internal Affairs and entered into the Senate Roll and, if so verified, may attend and vote at Senate meetings in that Senator's stead.
 - (i) If both the Academic Plan Senator and their Alternate attend Senate meetings, only the Academic Plan Senator may vote.
- Section 5: SUNY-ESF graduate students shall be allotted three Senate seats. These Senators are known as "SUNY-ESF Senators."
 - (a) SUNY-ESF graduate students may determine the nature, time, and place of their Senator elections.
- Section 6: There shall be a number of graduate student University Senator seats as determined by the Bylaws of the University Senate.
 - (a) The Senate shall elect half of these seats, rounded down, in the annual Elections Special Meeting and shall elect all remaining seats at the first meeting of the fall semester and subsequent meetings as needed.
 - (b) University Senators shall have seats in the GSO Senate as well as seats in the University Senate.
 - (c) The office of University Senator may not be held simultaneously with the office of Academic Plan Senator or of At-large Senator.

- Section 7: There shall be ten At-large Senate seats.
 - (a) The Senate shall elect half of these seats in the annual Elections Special Meeting and shall elect all remaining seats at the first meeting of the fall semester and subsequent meetings as needed.
 - (b) The office of At-large Senator may not be held simultaneously with the office of Academic Plan Senator or of University Senator.
- Section 8: Elections for University and At-large Senators shall run as follows:
 - (a) University Senator elections shall precede At-large Senator elections.
 - (b) If there are more candidates than the number of open seats, run-off voting shall be used to eliminate last-place candidates in sequential rounds across multiple ballots until the number of remaining candidates equals the number of seats. If a candidate procures a simple majority vote in a non-tiebreaking vote for last place that candidate shall be elected.
 - (c) Ties for last place in a run-off voting round shall be broken by immediately re-voting on the tied candidates on their own ballot. This step shall be repeated as needed to determine the last-place candidate eliminated from the next round of run-off voting.
 - (d) Once the number of candidates matches the number of seats, each candidate shall be voted on individually and shall be elected if the candidate procures a simple majority vote.
 - (e) If there are at least a number of open seats as there are the number of candidates, each candidate shall be voted on individually and shall be elected if the candidate procures a simple majority vote.
- Section 9: If there is a vacancy in an At-large or University Senator seat, the Senate shall hold an election to fill the seat at its next Regular Meeting or a Special Meeting called for this purpose.
- Section 10: All Senators are required to attend all Regular and Special Meetings of the GSO Senate. University Senators are additionally required to attend all meetings of the University Senate.
 - (a) Any Senator who does not attend two consecutive Senate Meetings or who misses three total Meetings, regardless of Meeting type, will be removed from office immediately at the conclusion of the relevant Meeting that Senator does not attend. The seat will then be vacant. Academic Plan Senators shall be considered in attendance if that Senator's verified Alternate is in attendance. Attendance shall be understood as the Senator being present for the majority of the Meeting's duration.
 - (b) Any University Senator who does not attend two consecutive Meetings or who misses three total Meetings of the University Senate shall likewise be removed from office.

The roll listed within the published minutes of the University Senate shall serve as the definitive attendance list for this purpose.

- Section 11: All Academic Plan and At-large Senators must serve on one GSO standing committee, special committee, or in a liaison position appointed by the President. All University Senators must serve on one University Senate committee as determined by the University Senate or on one GSO standing or special committee approved by the President and Vice President of Internal Affairs or in a liaison position appointed by the President.
- Section 12: The Senate shall be in Session starting on its first meeting of the fall semester no earlier than the last week of August and ending on the last meeting of the succeeding spring semester no later than commencement in May. The Senate will meet at least ten times every academic year. Meetings must include eight Regular Meetings, a Budget Special Meeting, and an Elections Special Meeting. The first meeting of the fall semester must be a Regular Meeting.
 - (a) Regular Meetings shall be announced as far in advance as possible to the entire GSO membership and Senate. There must be at least 14 days' notice of a Regular Meeting.
 - (i) The Agenda of a Regular Meeting shall include: (I) Call to Order, (II) Roll Call, (III) Approval of Previous Meeting Minutes (unless there are no previous minutes to approve), (IV) Land Acknowledgment & Opening Remarks, (V) Invited Guest Speaker (when applicable), (VI) Elections & Confirmations (when applicable), (VII) Executive Reports, (VIII) Committee Reports (whether standing, special or task force, when applicable), (IX) Unfinished Business, (X) New Business, (XI) Announcements and Remarks for the Record, (XII) Adjournment. The Agenda shall be sent no later than three academic days in advance of a scheduled Regular Meeting.
 - (b) Special Meetings must be called with specific business or a specific topic as their agenda. No other business may be discussed or voted upon at a Special Meeting apart from its stated purpose. There must be at least seven days' notice of a Special Meeting, announced to the Senate.
 - (i) The agenda of a Special Meeting shall include: (I) Call to Order, (II) Roll Call, (III) Approval of Previous Meeting Minutes, (IV) Land Acknowledgment & Opening Remarks, (V) Relevant Reports, (VI) Conduct of Designated Special Business, (VII) Announcement and Remarks for the Record, (VIII) Adjournment.
 - (c) The Vice President of Internal Affairs shall chair all Senate Meetings. The Chair shall vote only in cases of a tie or when their vote would change the outcome of the vote.

- (d) At all Senate Meetings, Quorum shall be ½ of the total voting Senate membership, excluding vacant seats, unless the Senate is voting on an Impeachment or a Constitutional Amendment, per Article V Section 2(e) and Article VI Section 3.
- (e) The rules contained in the most recent edition of *Robert's Rules of Order Newly Revised* shall serve as the GSO's parliamentary law and shall thereby govern the Senate and its subsidiary bodies where the parliamentary law is not in direct conflict with the Constitution, standing GSO legislation on rules and procedures or Syracuse University policies.
- (f) All Senate Meetings must be open to all GSO members except in the case of Executive Sessions or Impeachment per Article V. The Senate may proceed into Executive Session for any portion of any Meeting by a majority Vote by Roll. Guests who are not GSO members may be invited to attend meetings but can be removed by a majority vote of the Senate or by proceeding into Executive Session.
- (g) Special Meetings of the Senate may be held out-of-Session, pursuant Article II Section 12(b).
 - (i) Article II, Section 10, and subsections are not in effect during out-of-Session Special Meetings.
 - (ii) Out-of-Session Special Meetings may not be called for the purpose of proposing or voting upon amendments to the Constitution, elections, or interim appointments.
 - (iii) The membership of the deliberative assembly for out-of-Session Special Meetings shall be Officers, appointed Staff per Article IV, and Senators elected for the forthcoming Session.

Section 13: The Senate shall have the power to:

- (a) Represent the graduate students of Syracuse University comprising the GSO membership and speak on their behalf;
- (b) Establish the position of the GSO on any matter of importance to graduate students;
- (c) Make recommendations and draft Resolutions to the University or other bodies on any matter of policy affecting graduate students;
- (d) Set the priorities of the Executive Board, especially when advocating to the University on behalf of the graduate students;
- (e) Create or authorize any programs of action to accomplish the goals and purposes of the GSO in serving the interests of graduate students except where jurisdiction is expressly denied by the rules and regulations of Syracuse University or where jurisdiction is granted by Syracuse University's judicial system;
- (f) Set the time and place of Senate meetings;

- (g) Create, merge or dissolve any standing committees, special committees, or task forces as it deems fit;
- (h) Request reports from any such committees or task forces created by the Senate;
- (i) Create positions inferior to the Executive Board and liaison positions between the GSO and other organizations;
- (j) Elect all At-large and University Senators pursuant to the preceding sections;
- (k) Elect all Officers, excepting the Executive Board's power of vacancy appointment, in which case the Senate shall have the power to confirm such appointments pursuant Article III Section 2(e);
- (l) Confirm or elect the President Pro Tempore and Parliamentarian pursuant Article IV Section 2(c);
- (m) Call any Officer before the Senate for a hearing;
- (n) Override any action, including a veto, of the Executive Board or any of its Officers by Resolution with a ⅓ vote;
- (o) Serve as the exclusive forum for the Impeachment and removal of Officers pursuant to Article V;
- (p) Remove a Senator from office by Resolution with a ¾ vote;
- (q) Schedule Regular Meetings of the Senate if the Executive Board has not otherwise done so, pursuant to the restrictions within Article II Section 12(a);
- (r) Call Special Meetings of the Senate by Resolution or by the petition of ten Senators, pursuant the restrictions in Article II Section 12(b);
- (s) Raise or lower the graduate student activity fee, adhering to reasonable timing requirements on fee changes imposed by the University;
- (t) Allocate the graduate student activity fee in accordance with University policies and all applicable laws;
- (u) Amend the Constitution of the GSO pursuant to Article VI; and
- (v) Enact all measures necessary and proper in the fulfillment of these powers.
- Section 14: There will be a Rules and Administration Committee which will study and advise on procedural and organizational matters as required or requested. Such Committee shall:
 - (a) Be referred all proposed legislation relating to GSO and Senate organization, rules and regulations, including but not delimited to house rules and decorum, GSO policies, and the GSO Constitution. This Committee may, and may be called upon to, submit official opinions to the Senate on the disposition of all proposed constitutional

- amendments, policy changes, or changes to the GSO's organizational and operational structure; and,
- (b) Make a continuing study of the GSO's organization and operations and periodically recommend improvements regarding the same with a view toward strengthening the Senate, simplifying its operations, improving its relationships with other organizations, and enabling it better to meet its mandate under the GSO Constitution. As such, it will develop, implement, and update as necessary a strategic planning process and a strategic plan for the functional and technical infrastructure support of the Senate and provide oversight over all such plans; and,
- (c) Act as the GSO's legislative and operational institutional memory, archiving legislation and procedural documents, and identifying any legislative proceeding or action which, in the opinion of the Committee, is of vital interest to the Senate and calling such proceeding or action to the attention of the Senate when necessary. This ought include curating and making a yearly donation of GSO Legislation, Presidential Reports, and other items of vital interest to the GSO Archives housed in Syracuse University's Special Collections Research Center.
- (d) When any proposed legislation touches upon the GSO's Fiscal Policy and operations, the Rules and Administration Committee operates as an advisory and consultatory resource to the Comptroller and Finance Committee. However, the Rules and Administration Committee maintains the right to contest such legislation before the Senate in accordance with its constitutional mandate and charge should it deem necessary.
- Section 15: There will be a Finance Committee of the Senate which will act in an advisory capacity on fiscal matters to the Senate and Executive Board.
 - (a) The Finance Committee shall adhere to and enforce the GSO Fiscal Policy established by Resolution of the Senate.
 - (b) The Finance Committee may make recommendations on fiscal matters to the Senate, but the Senate maintains the sole power to establish GSO Fiscal Policy and to authorize the allocation and expenditure of GSO funds in line with it and University Policy.
 - (c) All campus Service Providers and Recognized Graduate Student Organizations in good standing may argue their case for funding before the Senate. The Senate retains the right to place reasonable limits on the time allotted for such arguments. The Finance Committee may hear arguments for funding from campus Service Providers and Recognized Graduate Student Organizations before forwarding funding requests and relevant recommendations to the Senate.
 - (d) The Finance Committee shall prepare and propose a GSO annual budget for the Special Budget Meeting, though the Senate may dispose of it in the same manner as all other Senate business.

(e) If the Senate has not approved a GSO annual budget for the following fiscal year by the end of the current Session, then the GSO annual budget originally proposed by the Finance Committee shall be considered approved and in force.

ARTICLE III: THE EXECUTIVE BOARD

- Section 1: All executive powers of the GSO are vested in the GSO Executive Board, which shall be empowered to oversee and to act for the organization within the limits set by this Constitution and the Senate.
- Section 2: The Executive Board shall consist of seven Officers: President, Vice President of Internal Affairs, Director of External Affairs, Comptroller, General Secretary of the Senate, Financial Secretary, and Communications Secretary.
 - (a) The President, Vice President of Internal Affairs, Director of External Affairs and Comptroller shall serve as voting members of the Executive Board on Board business. The Secretaries shall serve as Junior Officers of the Executive Board without the power to make motions on the Board or vote on Board business.
 - (i) The rules concerning boards and committees contained in the most recent edition of *Robert's Rules of Order Newly Revised* shall govern the Executive Board where they are not in direct conflict with the Constitution, standing GSO legislation on rules and procedures, or Syracuse University policies.
 - (ii) Quorum for all Executive Board actions shall be a majority of voting Officers, excluding vacancies.
 - (iii) In case of a tie within the Executive Board, the President's vote shall decide.
 - (b) A person must be a GSO member per Article I as of the start of that person's term or time of election, whichever is later, to be eligible to hold an Executive Board Office.
 - (i) To be eligible to serve as President, Vice President of Internal Affairs, Director of External Affairs or Comptroller, a person must have previously attended at least four Regular Meetings of the Senate as a Senator or Officer, excepting the rules for executive appointment of Interim Officers per Article III Section 2(e).
 - (c) The President, Vice President of Internal Affairs, Director of External Affairs and Comptroller shall be elected by the Senate at its Elections Special Meeting in the academic year prior to the one in which they will serve.
 - (d) The General Secretary of the Senate, Financial and Communications Secretaries shall be elected by the Senate at the first Regular Meeting of the academic year during which they will serve.

- (e) Vacancies in the Executive Board shall be filled by executive appointment. Executive appointees to an Officer position must be confirmed by majority vote of the Senate at its next Regular Meeting after appointment or a Special Meeting called for that purpose. Officers appointed in this way shall be known as Interim Officers.
 - (i) To be eligible for executive appointment as an Interim Officer, a person must be a current or previous member of the Senate, having attended at least one meeting of the Senate.
 - (ii) If not confirmed, or if the Executive Board declines or fails to exercise the power of executive appointment, the Senate shall fill the vacancy at any Regular Meeting or Special Meeting called for that purpose.
 - (iii) If in any Regular or Special Meeting called to confirm an executive appointment, the Senate rejects the appointment, the Senate may immediately hold an election for the vacant position.
- (f) In any Officer elections, runoff voting shall be used, eliminating the last place candidate on each ballot until a single candidate receives a majority vote.
 - (i) If a candidate runs unopposed, a yes/no/abstain ballot shall be used. The candidate shall be elected if the candidate receives a simple majority.
- (g) The President, Vice President of Internal Affairs, Director of External Affairs and Comptroller shall hold office from June 1st of the year in which they are elected, or once elected if that person's election or appointment occurs after June 1st, until the following May 31st.
- (h) The Secretaries shall hold office immediately upon election until the following May 31st.
- (i) No person shall serve more than two terms in any single position on the Executive
- (j) Officers, during their terms in office, may not simultaneously be Academic Plan or Atlarge Senators. An Officer may serve as a University Senator without any of the associated duties and rights of a University Senator in the GSO Senate.
- (k) Each Officer may receive a stipend for the year in which the Officer serves, if the Senate so directs.
- (I) Officers are expected to be students in residence at Syracuse University's main campus in Syracuse, NY during their terms in office. In the event that circumstances call them away from campus for a period of absence greater than two weeks, unless such absence occurs strictly during the winter break, an Officer must submit an appeal for approval of absence to the Rules and Administration Committee, which shall review

the case for approved absence within one week of receipt of the appeal and report recommended actions to the Senate at the next Regular Meeting.

(i) Between Regular Meetings, the Executive Board shall have the power to act on the recommendations of the Rules and Administration Committee regarding the case, though the Senate may dispose of the recommendations in the same manner as all other Senate business.

Section 3: The Executive Board shall have the following powers, duties, and functions:

- (a) Advise the President on internal, external, and fiscal operations;
- (b) Assist the President in implementing all policies, directives, and Resolutions of the Senate;
- (c) Take over the duties of any vacant office, delegating such responsibilities and powers as the President sees fit, with the Board's approval, to the remaining Officers;
- (d) Assist the President in nominating graduate student representatives to relevant bodies outside of the GSO but within Syracuse University;
- (e) Shall have the power to dispense with an Executive Board discretionary fund of an amount the Senate so chooses, so long as the action adheres to GSO Fiscal Policy, standing legislation, and University Policy.
 - (i) The President must authorize such actions.
 - (ii) The Comptroller must report such actions to the Senate at the next Regular Meeting;
- (f) Attend all Meetings of the Senate unless excused by majority vote of the Senate;
- (g) Establish the place and time of Senate Meetings, unless the Senate otherwise directs by majority vote per Article II Section 12(a);
- (h) Have the power to call Special Meetings of the Senate, pursuant to Article II Section 12(b); and,
- (i) Have the power to veto, by majority vote, motions and Resolutions passed by the Senate within five academic days of their passage.

- (i) The Vice President of Internal Affairs must report such actions to the Senate as expeditiously as possible via email and at the next Regular or Special Meeting of the Senate.
- (ii) The Senate retains the right to override a veto of the Executive Board per Article II Section 12(n), and shall be informed of this right when the veto is reported, and shall be given the explicit opportunity to override the veto at the next Regular or Special Meeting.
- (iii) The Executive Board does not have the power to veto an annual budget.

Section 4: The President shall:

- (a) Serve as Chief Executive Officer (CEO) of the GSO, exercising primary oversight and direction of the GSO's officers and its internal, external, and fiscal operations;
- (b) Serve as Chair of the Executive Board, and call regular meetings thereof;
- (c) Represent graduate students and the GSO to the Board of Trustees, the University administration, and the Graduate School, as well as to other units of the University as necessary;
- (d) Prepare reports to the Board of Trustees and its committees, when necessary, in consultation with the Executive Board, which shall be shared with the Senate and made public on the GSO website;
- (e) Advocate on behalf of graduate students to the University administration;
- (f) Advocate for graduate student representation on University-wide ad hoc and other committees, task forces, and working groups, and shall serve on the same as needed, or appoint a GSO member otherwise;
- (g) With the cooperation of the Student Association, meet with the leadership of the Student Association;
- (h) Present executive reports to the Senate at all Regular Meetings;
- (i) Faithfully implement all policies, directives, and Resolutions of the Senate;
- (j) Submit Resolutions and other motions from the Senate to other units of the University as is deemed prudent or when directed to do so by the Senate;
- (k) Submit legislation to the Senate from other units of the University as is deemed prudent;
- (l) Appoint all staff, lesser officers and liaisons that the Senate may create;
- (m) Manage any staff, lesser officers, liaisons and other non-elected positions within the GSO;

- (n) Serve as an *ex officio* member of all GSO committees, except the Committee on Impeachment per Article V; and,
- (o) Serve as an *ex officio* member of the University Senate.

Section 5: The Vice President of Internal Affairs shall:

- (a) Serve as the Acting President with all powers and privileges thereof during absence, infirmity, or incapacity of the elected President, and become Interim President in the event of the President's resignation or removal;
- (b) Serve as the President's Chief of Staff, assisting the President in managing and directing the Executive Board Officers and any staff, lesser officers, liaisons and other non-elected positions within the GSO;
- (c) Report to the President and assist them in implementing and enforcing all initiatives, directives, policies and tasks related to the GSO's internal affairs;
- (d) Oversee the work of the General Secretary of the Senate;
- (e) Serve as Chair of the Senate with all the powers and limitations thereof as stipulated by this Constitution and the most recent edition of *Robert's Rules of Order Newly Revised*;
- (f) Certify the vote count, result, and sponsors of all motions and Resolutions of the Senate, sending the authorized version thereof to the President for dissemination to relevant bodies within and outside of the organization and to the Communications Secretary for posting publicly on the GSO Website;
- (g) Establish clear and consistent rules on the recognition of Academic Plan Senators;
- (h) Have the power to certify the election of Academic Plan Senators;
- (i) Maintain a list of all academic plans, the list of Senators, and oversee the maintenance of Senate roll and attendance records;
- (j) Set and promulgate the agenda for Senate meetings, in consultation with the Executive Board, and serve as the Chair of an Agenda Committee or other similar body the Senate creates;
- (k) Serve as Chair of the Rules and Administration Committee, which can be run concurrently with the Agenda Committee;
- (I) Serve as an *ex officio* member of all GSO committees, except the Committee on Impeachment per Article V;
- (m) Appoint all committee members and committee Chairs in consultation with the President, except as otherwise stated in this Constitution, and except the Committee on Impeachment per Article V;

- (i) The terms of committee Chairs, barring resignation or removal, shall last from the time of appointment to the following May 31st.
- (n) Oversee all GSO committees, including maintaining regular communication with them, and report to the President and Senate the status of the committees;
- (o) Serve on a GSO committee or as a liaison in the event that a necessary position is not filled:
- (p) Serve in the University Senate in the event that one of the GSO's allotted seats is not filled;
- (q) Manage and certify the registration and good standing of Recognized Graduate Student Organizations with the GSO;
- (r) Encourage the compliance of Recognized Graduate Student Organizations with GSO and University Policies when necessary;
- (s) Establish, in consultation with the President, a clear and consistent process for settling disputes internal to Recognized Graduate Student Organizations when called upon to do so; and,
- (t) Represent the GSO to other University bodies with oversight of student organizations as necessary;

Section 6: The Director of External Affairs shall:

- (a) Report to the President and assist them in implementing and enforcing all initiatives, directives, policies and tasks related to the GSO's external affairs;
- (b) Oversee the work of the Communications Secretary;
- (c) Serve as Chair of all committees dealing with university outreach, civic engagement, and event planning;
- (d) Recruit Senators from academic plans without representation in consultation with the Vice President of Internal Affairs;
- (e) Oversee the organization and running of GSO events, working toward increasing the visibility of the GSO in the university community;
- (f) Oversee the maintenance of an active and relevant website and social media presence for the GSO, as well as university press relations;
- (g) Assist Recognized Graduate Student Organizations and other university units in advertising events, services and initiatives of interest to the graduate student body;
- (h) Serve on a GSO committee or as a liaison in the event that a necessary position is not filled; and,

(i) Serve in the University Senate in the event that one of the GSO's allotted seats is not filled.

Section 7: The Comptroller shall:

- (a) Report to the President and assist them in implementing and enforcing all initiatives, directives, policies and tasks related to the GSO's fiscal affairs;
- (b) Oversee the work of the Financial Secretary as well as any other bookkeeping and accounting staff or similar appointed positions;
- (c) Serve as Chair of the Finance Committee;
- (d) Maintain current and accurate financial records of the GSO;
- (e) Submit written financial reports to the Senate, including:
 - (i) At the first Regular Meeting, an overview of the GSO annual budget passed in the previous academic year, including any updates and executive spending per Article III Section 3(e) throughout the summer;
 - (ii) At all Regular Meetings, any pending funding requests or fiscal appeals, including the recommendations of the Finance Committee on funding requests as well as the balance of funds available for such requests.
 - (iii) At the Budget Special Meeting, an account of funds allocated in the previous budget but not spent;
- (f) Meet with the Budget Officer of the Graduate School on a monthly basis;
- (g) Prepare the GSO annual budget proposal for the Budget Special Meeting in consultation with the President, which must have been approved by the Finance Committee before forwarding to the Senate;
- (h) Report all funding and fiscal policy problems or complications to the President when they arise and resolve such issues in consultation with the President; and,
- (i) Serve on the University Senate Budget and Fiscal Affairs Committee and any related university fiscal bodies as needed.

Section 8: The General Secretary of the Senate shall:

- (a) Report to the Vice President of Internal Affairs and assist them in implementing and enforcing all initiatives, directives, policies and tasks related to the Senate;
- (b) Assist the Vice President of Internal Affairs in taking attendance at each Senate meeting and maintaining attendance rolls, in maintaining a list of current Officers, Senators, Staff and other deliberative assembly members and their contact information

- for posting publicly on the GSO website, and in maintaining a list of all GSO committee members;
- (c) Record the Minutes at all Senate and Executive Board Meetings, as well as at other Meetings as needed and so directed by the President or Vice President of Internal Affairs;
- (d) Send the Senate Meeting Minutes to the Vice President of Internal Affairs for review and dissemination to the Senate and to the Communications Secretary after approval for posting publicly on the GSO website, excepting any portions held under Executive Session which shall be recorded separately and archived but not posted publicly;
- (e) Serve as Chair of all GSO grant program committees or other similar GSO committees to process all related applications, paperwork and correspondence;
- (f) Serve on a GSO committee or as a liaison in the event that a necessary position is not filled; and,
- (g) Serve in the University Senate in the event that one of the GSO's allotted seats is not filled.

Section 9: The Communications Secretary shall:

- (a) Report to the Director of External Affairs and assist them in implementing and enforcing all initiatives, directives, policies and tasks related to the GSO's external affairs;
- (b) Assist the Director of External Affairs in recruiting Senators from academic plans without representation, increasing the visibility of the GSO in the university community, organizing and running GSO events, and managing GSO advertisements, social media presence, and university press relations as directed;
- (c) Maintain the GSO's various public documents and forms, including the GSO website, and update them as needed, in consultation with the Executive Board or the relevant committees;
- (d) Serve as Vice Chair of all committees dealing with outreach, civic engagement, and event planning;
- (e) Serve on a GSO committee or as a liaison in the event that a necessary position is not filled; and,
- (f) Serve in the University Senate in the event that one of the GSO's allotted seats is not filled.

Section 10: The Financial Secretary shall:

- (a) Report to the Comptroller and assist them in implementing and enforcing all initiatives, directives, policies and tasks related to the GSO's fiscal affairs;
- (b) Assist the Comptroller in maintaining accurate financial records, creating reports to the Senate and creating the GSO annual budget proposal;
- (c) Keep records of all payments made and received on the accounts of the GSO, the accounts of Registered Graduate Student Organizations, and other entities with a GSO funding allocation;
- (d) Process all reimbursements and other routine financial paperwork;
- (e) Serve on a GSO committee or as a liaison in the event that a necessary position is not filled; and,
- (f) Serve in the University Senate in the event that one of the GSO's allotted seats is not filled.

ARTICLE IV: THE STAFF

- Section 1: All staff positions of the GSO are advisory, consultatory, and/or supportive in function.
- Section 2: The GSO Staff shall consist of any number of staff positions, as needed by the Senate and Executive Board.
 - (a) In order to be eligible for a staff position, a person must be a GSO member per Article I as of the start of that person's time of appointment. To be eligible to serve as Parliamentarian or President Pro Tempore of the Senate, one must have previously attended at least one Regular Meeting.
 - (b) Staff positions are appointed by the President and managed by the President with the assistance of the Vice President of Internal Affairs.
 - (i) As an exception to the general rule for appointing staff positions, the staff positions of Parliamentarian and President Pro Tempore of the Senate shall be appointed in the following manner: The Vice President of Internal Affairs shall recommend a member to the Executive Board to be appointed by majority vote. The Senate shall then confirm the appointment by majority vote at the next Regular Meeting.
 - (c) Vacancies in staff positions may be filled by the Executive Board, which must be confirmed by the Senate at its next Regular Meeting when appropriate. If not confirmed, or if the Executive Board declines to make an appointment, the Senate may choose to fill the vacancy at any Regular Meeting or Special Meeting called for that purpose.

- (d) Staffers shall hold office immediately upon their appointment until the following May 31st.
- (e) Staffers, during their terms in office, may simultaneously be Senators, with the exception of:
 - (i) the Parliamentarian, who may not be a Senator;
 - (ii) the President Pro Tempore of the Senate who must be a Senator.
- (f) Staffers may receive a stipend for their service if the Senate so directs.

Section 3: The duties, powers, and functions of the Staff:

- (a) The rules concerning parliamentary procedure, debate conduct, and organizational structure contained in the most recent edition of *Robert's Rules of Order Newly Revised* shall govern the Staff where they are not in conflict with the GSO Constitution or Syracuse University policies.
- (b) The Staff shall:
 - (i) Assist and advise the Executive Board and Senate as necessary;
 - (ii) Assist the Executive Board in implementing all policies, directives and Resolutions of the Senate;
 - (iii) Attend all Meetings of the Senate unless excused by the Senate.

Section 4: The President Pro Tempore of the Senate shall:

- (a) Serve as the Acting Vice President of Internal Affairs with all powers and privileges thereof during absence, infirmity or incapacity of the elected Vice President of Internal Affairs, and become Interim Vice President of Internal Affairs in the event of the Vice President of Internal Affairs' resignation, removal or succession to the Presidency per Article III Section 5(a);
- (b) In the absence of the Vice President of Internal Affairs, temporarily serve as the Chair of the Senate;
- (c) Serve as the Sergeant at Arms of the Senate at the direction of the Chair of the Senate;
- (d) In collaboration with the Parliamentarian, assist and advise the Chair of the Senate;
- (e) Serve on the Agenda and Rules and Administration Committees;
- (f) Serve as an *ex officio* member of all GSO committees, including the Committee on Impeachment per Article V.

(i) In the event that the President Pro Tempore of the Senate is the subject of Impeachment or a Signatory on the Articles of Impeachment, the President Pro Tempore of the Senate shall not serve on the Committee on Impeachment.

Section 5: The Parliamentarian shall:

- (a) Serve as the primary advisor and consultant on parliamentary procedure, *Robert's Rules* of Order Newly Revised, GSO standing legislation and the GSO Constitution;
- (b) In collaboration with the President Pro Tempore of the Senate, assist and advise the Vice President of Internal Affairs and Chair of the Senate;
- (c) Serve as the Reading Clerk, Teller and Timekeeper of the Senate;
- (d) Serve as the Assistant Sergeant at Arms of the Senate at the direction of the President Pro Tempore of the Senate;
- (e) Serve on the Agenda and Rules and Administration Committees;
- (f) Serve as an ex officio member of the Finance Committee without the power to vote;
- (g) Serve as an *ex officio* member of the Committee on Impeachment per Article V without the power to vote;
 - (i) In the event that the Parliamentarian is the subject of Impeachment, the Parliamentarian shall not serve on the Committee on Impeachment.
- (h) When requested, advise on legislation and the constitutionality of GSO activities;
 - (i) The Parliamentarian shall not author or sponsor legislation unless it is legislation referred to or submitted by the Rules and Administration Committee.
- (i) Intervene in the situation that GSO Senators, Officers, legislation, or initiatives contradict the GSO Constitution, bylaws, or Syracuse University policies;
- (j) Apply for membership in the National Association of Parliamentarians if the confirmed office holder is not already a member.
 - (i) Once per term in office, all dues and fees associated with this application and membership shall be paid in full by the GSO.
 - (ii) The Senate shall be informed of the Parliamentarian's membership examination results at its next Regular Meeting.

ARTICLE V: REMOVAL OF OFFICERS

- Section 1: A GSO Officer or member of the Staff—both are referred to as "Officer" within this Article—shall be removed from office in a manner listed in this Article.
- Section 2: An Officer shall be removed by the impeachment process as follows:
 - (a) Articles of Impeachment may be brought by any Executive Board member or ten Senators. Articles of Impeachment shall either be brought to the President at any time, or the Executive Board as a whole at any time or presented to the Chair of the Senate at any Regular or Special Meeting.
 - (i) In the event that the President is the subject of Impeachment, the Vice President of Internal Affairs and members of the Rules and Administration Committee, excluding the President, shall preside over the Impeachment process between the submission of the Articles of Impeachment and the appointment of the Committee on Impeachment.
 - (1) In this event the Vice President of Internal Affairs shall chair the meeting to appoint the Committee on Impeachment.
 - (ii) In the event that any Officer other than the President is the subject of Impeachment, the President and members of the Rules and Administration Committee, excluding the Officer in question, shall preside over the Impeachment process between the submission of the Articles of Impeachment and the appointment of the Committee on Impeachment.
 - (1) In this event the Vice President of Internal Affairs, or President Pro Tempore of the Senate if the Vice President of Internal Affairs is the subject of Impeachment, shall chair the meeting to appoint the Committee on Impeachment.
 - (2) In the event that both the Vice President of Internal Affairs and the President Pro Tempore of the Senate are concurrently the subjects of Impeachment, whether in the same or separate Articles of Impeachment, the Parliamentarian shall preside over the election of the temporary Chair of the meeting to appoint the Committee on Impeachment.
 - (b) Once Articles of Impeachment are received, the presiding Officer, per Article V Section 2(a), shall arrange a meeting between the Signatories of the Articles of Impeachment, the Executive Board, the Staff and the Officer in question to take place within 48 hours of receiving the Articles of Impeachment.

- (i) At this meeting, the Officer in question will be briefed on the Impeachment process and the Signatories of the Articles of Impeachment shall be afforded the opportunity to explain their reasons for submitting the Articles of Impeachment.
- (ii) Following the Signatories' explanation of their reasons for submitting the Articles of Impeachment, in order to protect the reputation of the Officer in question and that of the GSO, the Officer in question shall be offered the opportunity to resign.
 - (1) The Officer in question shall have 24 hours to submit a written Letter of Resignation to the Executive Board and Staff. Upon receipt of the Letter of Resignation, the Resignation is effective immediately and shall be communicated to necessary parties.
 - (2) If the Officer in question chooses not to resign, or does not submit a Letter of Resignation within the 24 hour window, the presiding Officer shall immediately forward the Articles of Impeachment to the Senate and proceed with the process for appointing the Committee on Impeachment.
 - Once the Articles of Impeachment are forwarded to the Senate, the remainder of the Impeachment process shall be completed regardless of whether or not the Officer in question resigns after this point.
- (c) Once the Articles of Impeachment are forwarded to the Senate, the Senate shall appoint a Committee on Impeachment at its next Regular Meeting or Special Meeting called for that purpose, specifying the Committee Chair and Committee members not already specified by this document per Article IV Section 4(f) and Article IV Section 5(g).
 - (i) The Senate reserves the right to suspend by Resolution any power or access of the Officer(s) subject to Impeachment for the duration of the Impeachment proceedings should they deem necessary.
 - (1) Any power or access suspended in this manner must be clearly stipulated in the Resolution forming the Committee on Impeachment.
 - (2) Any power or access suspended in this manner shall be automatically reinstated upon rejection of the motion to remove the Officer in question.

- (ii) The Senate reserves the right to appoint any Officer to the Committee on Impeachment, unless that Officer is subject to Impeachment or a Signatory of Articles of Impeachment.
- (iii) The Senate reserves the right to remove the Officer(s) subject to Impeachment from the meeting to appoint the Committee on Impeachment, or any member obstructing the proceedings.
- (iv) All meetings, documents and correspondence pertaining to the Impeachment process occurring from the submission of the Articles of Impeachment to and including the meeting to appoint the Committee on Impeachment shall be held in Executive Session.
 - (1) In exception to this provision, the Resolution appointing the Committee on Impeachment shall be public.
- (d) The Committee on Impeachment shall interview the Signatories of the Articles of Impeachment and the Officer(s) in question as well as any other individuals the Committee may deem informative. The Committee shall make a Recommendation by Resolution to the Senate within ten academic days of its appointment.
 - (i) The meetings of the Committee on Impeachment shall be held in Executive Session.
 - (ii) In making its Recommendation, the Committee must vote by roll, and be published in the Committee's Recommendation. The Committee shall recommend one of the following options: that the Senate (I) take no action, (II) censure the Officer, or (III) remove the Officer.
 - (iii) In the Committee on Impeachment's Recommendation, the Committee may include any evidence or argumentation in support of their Recommendation.
- (e) Once the Committee on Impeachment has made a Recommendation by Resolution, a Special Meeting of the Senate shall be called pursuant to Article II Section 12(b), to be held no later than ten academic days after the Committee issues its Recommendation by Resolution.
- (f) The Senate shall consider the Committee's Recommendation by Resolution and dispose of the Recommendation by Resolution in the same manner as all other Senate business.

- (i) Removal of an Officer requires a 1/3 vote.
- (ii) When sitting for such a vote, quorum is a majority of Senators, excluding vacant seats.
- (iii) Upon result of the vote on the Recommendation by Resolution, the Recommendation by Resolution and result shall be made public.
- (g) The Senate reserves the right to lift the protections of Executive Session for any documents or information pertaining to the Impeachment process in question.
 - (i) This action must occur by Resolution and requires a ¾ vote.
- Section 3: An Officer may be removed by unanimous vote of the Executive Board.
 - (a) An Executive Board Officer may be removed by unanimous vote of the other Executive Board Officers.
 - (b) This action may only be taken when the Senate is not in Session.
 - (c) This action may be overruled by the Senate pursuant to Article II Section 13(n).
- Section 4: An Officer may resign from office by submitting a written Letter of Resignation to be accepted by the Executive Board.
- Section 5: On any procedure pertaining to the Impeachment or removal of an Officer not specified in this document, the most recent addition of *Robert's Rules of Order Newly Revised* shall serve as the official guide on how to proceed.

ARTICLE VI: AMENDMENTS

- Section 1: Amendments to the Constitution may be proposed by any Senator or Officer.
- Section 2: Proposed amendments may be considered either at a Regular or Special Meeting.
 - (a) To be considered at a Regular Meeting, the amendment must be presented to the Senate at the preceding Regular Meeting.
 - (b) To be considered at a Special Meeting, the amendment and notice of the meeting must be sent to all Senators at least 14 days before the Special Meeting.
- Section 3: Amendments to the Constitution require a ¾ vote. Amendments to Resolutions to Amend the Constitution also require a ¾ vote. Quorum for amendments shall be a majority of voting Senate membership per Article II Section 2, excluding vacant seats.

- Section 4: The Rules and Administration Committee shall have the responsibility of ensuring that all proposed amendments are communicated to the Senate in a transparent manner. The Rules and Administration Committee shall not have the power to block proposed amendments from going to the Senate floor.
- Section 5: Resolutions of Amendment must have an effective date.

ARTICLE VII: MISCELLANEOUS

- Section 1: The name of this organization shall be the Graduate Student Organization of Syracuse University, also called the Graduate Student Organization, and also referred to as the GSO.
- Section 2: The GSO is a not-for-profit organization.
- Section 3: The GSO does not discriminate and prohibits harassment or discrimination related to any protected category including creed, ethnicity, citizenship, sexual orientation, national origin, sex, gender, pregnancy, reproductive health decisions, disability, marital status, political or social affiliation, age, race, color, veteran status, military status, religion, sexual orientation, domestic violence status, genetic information, gender identity, gender expression or perceived gender.
- Section 4: The GSO shall not conspire or engage in hazing, as defined by University Policy.
- Section 5: The GSO shall comply with Syracuse University's Code of Student Conduct.
- Section 6: No GSO member is eligible for a fee waiver whatsoever.
- Section 7: GSO Officers and Staff are not University employees in their capacities as Officers and Staff.
- Section 8: Graduate students at SUNY-ESF shall pay a portion of the total student fee as determined by an agreement reached between the Executive Board and the SUNY- ESF Graduate Student Association. The graduate students of SUNY-ESF are eligible to use select services provided by the GSO, as determined by the aforementioned agreement.
- Section 9: Within this document the following terms are defined as such:
 - (a) An academic day is defined as any day in the Fall, Spring, Maymester, or Summer semesters with scheduled class meetings.
 - (b) Executive Session is defined as a meeting or portion of a meeting, and any documents or information pertaining thereto, that is held in confidentiality in which only the members of the Senate per Article II Section 2 and any special invitees are permitted to be in attendance.